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IN MEMORIAM

The FPA Australia Annual Report for 
2019-20 is dedicated to the memory 
of John Paterson, who passed away 
on 11 October, 2020, aged 98.

John was a committed member of 
FPA Australia and its predecessor for 
60 years, serving with distinction as 
both Board member and President, 
before being recognised with an 
honorary life membership.

The son and nephew of a Deputy CFO and a CFO 
respectively of the Metropolitan Fire Board in Melbourne, 
John volunteered for almost 30 years at No.1 Station, while 
working concurrently with Wormald Australia.

That work was interrupted by the outbreak of the Second 
World War, and he soon enlisted with the Victorian Scottish 
Regiment of the army, before transferring to the RAAF to fly 
Dakota aircraft.

After the war he returned to Wormald, holding a number of 
senior positions in that company in NSW and Victoria, before 
starting up his own fire sprinkler head company, Landsdale 
Fire in the early 1980s.

John was widely recognised as an industry expert on 
automatic sprinkler protection who had a wealth of information 
about these systems. This knowledge was informed by his 
close relationships with overseas practitioners and extensive 
travel in the US, Europe, and Asia.

John freely shared his expertise both directly with his peers 
and through long-term contributions to FPA Australia’s 
Victorian state committee and the Technical Advisory 
Committee for sprinklers and hydrant systems.

His strong interest in all aspects of fire protection is a matter 
of record, as is his keen historical knowledge of fire protection 
in Australasia, and his contributions to the industry will be 
long remembered.

Fire Protection Association Australia extends our sympathies 
to John’s family, friends, and colleagues.
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FIRE PROTECTION 
ASSOCIATION AUSTRALIA 
(FPA AUSTRALIA) IS THE 
NATIONAL PEAK BODY FOR 
FIRE SAFETY.

WE SUPPORT AND 
REPRESENT PRACTITIONERS 
WORKING ACROSS THE FIRE 
PROTECTION, BUILDING, AND 
CONSTRUCTION INDUSTRIES.
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OVERVIEW

OUR VISION AND PURPOSE 
A safer community where loss of life, injury, and 
damage to property and the environment are 
minimised through effective fire protection.

OUR MISSION 
As the peak body, FPA Australia represents and 
supports our members, and works with government, 
business and other stakeholders to: 

• promote a world class fire protection industry; 

• deliver education and direction on industry 
best practice; 

• develop, maintain and recognise professional 
competence and conduct; 

• create and deliver career pathways; 

• provide relevant business services, resources 
and networking; 

• advocate to government and other 
stakeholders for continuous improvement of 
policy, legislation, codes and standards; and 

• invest in research and advocacy to develop 
and implement improved fire protection.

OUR AMBASSADOR

PROFESSOR FIONA WOOD AM
Professor Fiona Wood AM is an internationally-acclaimed 
burns researcher and surgeon, known for achievements 
such as the development of “spray on skin” and leadership 
of a Perth based team which treated 28 survivors of the 
Bali bombings in 2002.

She leads the Fiona Wood Foundation, FPA Australia’s 
Official Charity Partner, and is the Director of the Burns 
Service Western Australia and a Consultant Plastic 
Surgeon at Fiona Stanley Hospital and Princess Margaret 
Hospital for Children.

Professor Wood was made a Member of the Order of 
Australia (AM) in 2003. In 2005 she won the Western 
Australian Citizen of the Year award for her contribution to 
medicine in the field of burns research, and in the same 
year was also named Australian of the Year.

She was named as an Australian Living Treasure by the 
National Trust, and was voted the most trusted Australian 
in a Readers Digest poll for six successive years from 2005 
to 2010.

INTEGRITY
Behaving ethically and respectfully, 
acting with loyalty, honesty, 
compassion, and transparency.

INDEPENDENCE
Expressing our views free of bias, 
coercion, favouritism, and external 
interest.

EFFECTIVENESS
Achieving tangible and 
relevant outcomes informed by 
engagement with our members 
and the industry.

PROFESSIONALISM
Committing to the continuous 
advancement and improvement of 
the Association and its members.

ACCOUNTABILITY
Taking responsibility for our 
decisions and actions.

OUR VALUES
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2019-20 
KEY STATISTICS
AS AT 30 JUNE, 2020

PEOPLE

1,781
MEMBERS

30
STAFF 30K+

INDIVIDUALS 
REACHED

LEARNING

767
STUDENTS 
TRAINED

799
STUDENTS 
ASSESSED

2,599
UNITS OF 

COMPETENCY 
DELIVERED

LICENSING

2,483
FPAS 

ACCREDITED 
PRACTITIONERS

24 FIRE SYSTEMS 
CERTIFICATION

559 FIRE SAFETY 
ASSESSMENT

130 FIRE SYSTEMS 
DESIGN

1,770 INSPECT 
& TEST

181
BPAD 

ACCREDITED 
PRACTITIONERS

2,796
LICENSED 
CABLERS

ENGAGEMENT

6
LOCAL 

COORDINATING 
COMMITTEES

8
TECHNICAL 

COMMITTEES
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Australians have experienced many challenges over the past year. It started with 
fire, then floods, and now we’re experiencing a global pandemic and economic 
recession. These events have tested us both as individuals and as a community, 
and no doubt many would simply like to forget 2020 and start again.

Fire Protection Association Australia (FPA Australia) has not been exempt from the 
effects of 2020, but our strength and resilience as an organisation has shone through.

Because of the Coronavirus we were forced to cancel Fire Australia, postpone most of our events 
and training sessions, and face a significant gap in our revenue.

Given that we were already facing a deficit for the 2019-20 financial year, this could have placed us in 
a precarious position if nothing were done to change direction.

As the magnitude of the crisis became apparent, the Board chose to press ahead with plans to 
restructure in order to be in a better position to weather the storm.

A key element of that strategy was to focus on reducing expenses in an effort to turn the deficit 
into a surplus. To achieve this, each department of FPA Australia would need to cover its costs and 
contribute to the overheads of running the organisation. This will make us more efficient, and free up 
resources to promote community safety through better fire protection.

The decisions required to achieve this were not easy, not popular, and undoubtedly caused disquiet 
for some staff and members. But by repositioning the organisation, with the support of the Executive 
team, we are now in a much stronger position for 2021.

Over the next 12 months, the Association will focus on:

• increasing member engagement;

• developing training pathways and facilities; and

• extending the Fire Protection Accreditation Scheme (FPAS) into other jurisdictions.

The NSW Government’s recognition of FPAS has allowed the Association to take a lead on improving 
the professionalism and integrity of the fire protection industry and this will hopefully serve as a useful 
model for other jurisdictions.

In the same vein, the establishment of the NSW campus of the Fire Protection Training Academy at 
the Fire and Rescue NSW Emergency Services Academy premises in Orchard Hills, has shown what 
can be achieved by collaborating with the fire services on common goals.

In closing out the 2019-20 financial year, I would like to thank all the members of FPA Australia for 
their faith in their industry association and in its Board.

The volunteers on the Board have demonstrated an admirable commitment to the betterment of the 
industry, and as President I have appreciated their counsel and diligence.

The last ten months have certainly been a challenge, but we are starting to see the results of our 
endeavours, and I am hopeful for smoother sailing ahead.

To Board Directors and staff who have left the organisation this year, I’d like to thank you for your 
service and for your contribution to Australia’s peak organisation for fire protection.

To those who remain, I warmly welcome your ongoing commitment to our sector.

There is much to do, but I have no doubt that we will achieve our goals for the industry with all of 
your efforts.

Finally, on behalf of my fellow Directors and the FPA Australia team, I’d like to thank all of our 
members for their involvement in our Association – your participation and support during a time of 
economic uncertainty is greatly appreciated.

I wish all of our members, and FPA Australia itself, a very happy and successful 2021.

Bill Lea (AFSM) 
FPA Australia – President

A MESSAGE FROM THE 
NATIONAL PRESIDENT
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I am proud to present an overview of the 2019-20 financial year, which proved to 
be quite challenging for the industry, given the global pandemic.

FPA Australia had some changes of its own, none bigger than the departure of 
the previous CEO, Scott Williams, after leading the Association for over 11 years, 
and we thank him for his significant contributions. I joined the leadership team in 
March 2020, starting as Chief Technical Officer, before taking my current role.

Coronavirus made the continued viability of the Association a key driver this year, resulting 
in necessary structural changes and a new strategy that had digital transformation, industry 
improvement, members, and people at its core. I acknowledge and appreciate the disruption this 
caused the team, and have been astounded by their commitment and resilience in bouncing back 
and propelling the Association forward.

Unfortunately, the virus also led to the first ever cancellation of both the Fire Australia Conference and 
Tradeshow and the Fire Protection Industry Awards. We have now decided to merge these two events 
– running the Awards during the Conference – and have taken the opportunity to include many virtual 
elements in the program, opening the event to a wider audience. We have been absolutely delighted 
with the positive feedback received thus far and are looking forward to Fire Australia 2021.

I am pleased to announce that the Association was able to deliver a surplus, despite our challenges, 
due in part to our decisive actions and to some government rebates, including:

• better than expected retention rates of existing members and a good flow of new members to 
the Association; 

• the accreditation of practitioners under FPAS in NSW – formally recognised on 1 July 2020, with 
559 accredited practitioners in Fire Safety Assessment and 130 in Fire Systems Design (we are 
expecting these numbers will double by the end of the calendar year); 

• a number of seminars late in 2019 and the commencement of webinar CPD sessions in May, 
which are seeing increasing attendance rates; 

• income from JobKeeper rebates and payroll tax refunds; and

• the ongoing delivery of our commitments under the Fire Protection Industry (ODS & SGG) 
Board’s contract with the Federal Government.

With the Training team moving to a new contractor model in each state and territory, we will be more 
responsive and able to deliver training more readily. This is helped by our new Fire Protection Training 
Academy Sydney campus – formally launched next year – that will increase our training capacity 
significantly. I thank the team and our sponsors for bringing that vision to life.

It was a very busy Q4 on the policy front, with several reforms occurring nationally, but it is good to 
see how much influence the organisation has with governments to bring about meaningful change. 
FPA Australia proves every day that it is the Voice of the industry and its people – the team’s expertise, 
experience, and passion will be pivotal, if we are to achieve significant benefits for the industry.

Finally, I am happy to say that the Board has thrown its support behind the digital transformation of 
the Association. We are now pursuing several exciting initiatives to help us work more efficiently and 
deliver more value for our members.

I would like to express my deep gratitude to the Board, staff, and members for their continued 
support of and commitment to FPA Australia and its vision. As the fire protection industry is called 
upon to take a more visible and influential role in society, we must ensure we stay focused on our 
primary purpose – a safer community where loss of life, injury, and damage to property and the 
environment are minimised through effective fire protection.

Nathan Semos 
FPA Australia – Chief Operating Officer

A MESSAGE FROM THE  
CHIEF OPERATING OFFICER
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MEMBER 
ENGAGEMENT

IMPROVING BENEFITS AND 
DELIVERING BETTER CUSTOMER 
SERVICE FOR FPA AUSTRALIA’S 
GROWING MEMBERSHIP BASE.
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MEMBERSHIP
It would not be possible to promote better fire protection for the community effectively without a 
strong membership base, and we are focused on increasing and retaining our coverage of the 
industry so that we can support that goal. 

Over the 2019-20 financial year we saw a temporary drop in membership numbers, but since January 
2020 it has been increasing steadily. From a low point of 1,723 members in October 2019, we ended 
June 2020 with 1,781 members – a 3.4% increase – and our highest membership level to date.

But the increase didn’t stop there – despite the difficulties of the pandemic, by August, 2020, we 
had reached 1,800 members, and the numbers continue to rise.

MEMBER NUMBERS 2019-20

Jun-19 Jul-19 Aug-19 Sept-19 Oct-19 Nov-19 Dec-19 Jan-20 Feb-20 Mar-20 Apr-20 May-20 Jun-20

1,751

1,73888

1,7377 1,733
1,74222 1,7422

1,7344

1,7444
1,7555

1,764

1,781

44

1,765

19 Oct-19 N

1,723

As an Association, we have a high level of small business participation, with 42.8% holding 
Corporate Bronze or Corporate Franchise membership and 19.1% with individual or professional 
membership.

New South Wales contributes the most members in a particular state, with almost 50% of 
membership alone.

However, numbers are reasonably evenly spread across other jurisdictions, and our engagement 
strategy will seek to increase our activity nationwide to support our members wherever they may 
be located. This will include how we might be able to engage effectively as a result of our digital 
transformation projects.

Our goal continues to be to ensure that we remain relevant to our members and provide tangible 
benefits to both them and their employees, so that we can help them to deliver a safer community.

Corporate
Bronze
35.4%

Corporate
Silver
19.7%

Corporate
Gold
15.4%

Individual
Member
18.3%

Corporate
Franchise
7.4%

Organisation Gold
0.1%

Organisation Silver
1.6%

Organisation Bronze
0.7%

Professional Member
0.8%

Honorary
Life Member

0.3%

Corporate
Platinum

0.3%

NSW
49.3%

QLD
11.9%

VIC
20.8%

WA
10.7%

NT
0.8%

ACT
1.5%

INTL.
0.2%

SA
3.8%

TAS
1.1%

MEMBERSHIP CATEGORIES LOCATION OF MEMBERS
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SALES CENTRE
The sale of logbooks, standards, and reference materials to practitioners saw a slight dip during 
the 2019-20 financial year, largely due to reduced spending and logistical complications arising 
from the coronavirus pandemic.

In fact, the last four months of the financial year alone were under the year’s forecasts by around 
6.8 percent, although sales in July-October, 2020, have returned to normal levels.

The closure of the Victorian office created additional challenges for the sales team, as we were 
unable to access the premises to process orders.

This meant that we had to get some of our suppliers of standards and reference books to 
deliver directly to customers, which has had an impact upon our profit margins. We are currently 
renegotiating these contracts.

Fortunately, however, sales are now recovering and we expect to be well ahead of forecast levels 
by the end of June, 2021.

More importantly, we are about to launch our online shop, which we believe will streamline 
purchasing for customers and simplify processing for FPA Australia staff.

This will be launched on the FPA website before the end of 2020.

FY 14-15

$1,199,016

FY 15-16

$1,231,585

FY 16-17

$1,298,608

FY 17-18

$1,346,458

FY 18-19

$1,346,119

FY 19-20

$1,303,782

FIVE YEAR SALES REVENUE GROWTH

2.1 Complete six-monthly service

        

2.2 Check operating head or cap is undamaged and any strainer or vents  

are clear

 1



  

2.3 Check extinguisher discharges correctly in accordance with the  

operating instructions

 2



2.4 Check actuating device is undamaged and moves freely



  

2.5 Check internal components provide clear passage and are securely attached
 1





2.7 Check cylinder interior is clean



 

2.8 Recharge the extinguisher with fresh extinguishing agent

 1





2.9 Check condition of operating head or cap seal

 1



  

2.10 Test for leaks from any joints and seals

 1



2.11 Check fire hazard has not changed

        

2.12 Check suitability for hazard is appropriate

        

2.13 Check alterations to the building that might impede access to,  

or movement of, wheeled extinguisher

        

Five Yearly Service – Table 10.4.33.1 Complete Six-Monthly and Yearly service

        

3.2 Check extinguisher discharges correctly in accordance with the  

operating instructions

  
    

3.3 Check actuating device is undamaged and moves freely

  
 

3.4 Check internal components provide clear passage and are securely attached   
 

3.6 Check internal condition of cylinder in accordance with the  

requirements of AS 2030.5

        

3.7 Check condition of operating head or cap seal

  
 

3.9 Pressure test wheeled extinguishers in accordance with AS 2030.5 at an 

approved test station

        

3.10 Recharge the extinguisher with fresh extinguishing agent as required  

by the manufacturer




  
 3

3.11 Renew seals and gaskets fitted to the actuating device, operating  

head or cap.

        

3.12 Test for leaks from any joints and seals

     

3.13 Pressure test hose assembly to 1.5x the working pressure or 2MPa 

whichever is the greatest (for all wheeled extinguishers other than CO2). 

For CO2, pressure test hose assembly to 10MPa
        

SR8-11  
Fire Extinguishers, Blankets, Hose Reels & Lay Flat Hose 

Required Action Reference Guide – Page 4 of 4

  P
owder

  Foam

  V
aporis

ing Liquid

  W
ater 

  W
et C

hemica
l 

  P
owder 

  W
ater

  Foam

  Carb
on Dioxide

WHEELED FIRE EXTINGUISHERS – Continued

EXTINGUISHER TYPESTORED PRESSURE

Item No. Actions RequiredYearly Service – Table 10.4.2 

Required Action Reference Guide – Page 4 of 4

© FPA Australia 2016       SR8-11   V2.0   November 2016

GAS CONTAINER

1  Water with additive ONLY 2  Only applies to water with additive (discharged yearly) and water with corrosion inhibitor or freezing point depressants (discharged 3 yearly).               

3  Applies to foam (gas container with sealed foam liquid container) ONLY

© FPA Australia 2016

Fire Protection Association Australia Life Property Environment

Fire Detection and  Alarm Systems

LB6A

START DATE / /
END DATE 

/ /START REPORT NO.

END REPORT NO.

SERVICE PROVIDER 
CONTACT DETAILS

SITE DETAILS

1 YEAR EDITION

AS 1851-2012 (Incorporating Amendment 1)LOGBOOK

LB5  
Water Storage Tanks for Fire Protection Systems 

 

Yearly Service Record – Page 1 of 1

Your service provider is:

Site Name
 

 Date   /  /  Work Order No.
 

 

Site Address
 

 Time
  

 Site ID
  

Distribution of service record copies:  owner/occupier/agent = original      service provider = duplicate      retained in this book = triplicate © FPA Australia 2016       LB5   V2.0   November 2016

Item No. Actions required by Table 5.4.3

 Pass Fail N/A

All previous defects and non-conformances attended to and 

recorded

  

  

3.1 Complete monthly and 6 monthly  service

  

3.2 Check for water leakage

  

3.3 Check for loose components

  

3.4 Check for external damage

  

3.5 Check foundation

  

3.6 Check for corrosion

  

3.7, 3.8, 3.9 Check access hatch, ladder & roof

  

3.10 Check vermin proofing

  

3.11 Check for foreign objects

  

3.12 Check for algae

All Tanks

  

3.16 Check condition of gaskets and seals

  

3.17 Check condition of vortex inhibitor

  

3.18 Service-level indicator components

  

3.19 Check compatibility of hard suction fittings

  

3.20 Drain, clean and refill tank (Only required after 1st year of install then every ten years)

  

3.35 Visually inspect internal stay support system

  

3.36a Inspect tank condition

  

3.13 Check vents

  

3.14 Check tank access

  

3.15 Check condition of signage

3.36b

  

Verify low water level alarm Alarm level (m)

Rectangular Panel Tanks

Pressure Tanks

Item No. Actions required by Table 5.4.3

 Pass Fail N/A

  

3.21 Check liner fixing system

  

3.27 Check liner flexibility

  

3.22 Check liner for discolouration

  

3.28 Check liner for discolouration

  

3.23 Check liner for shrinkage

  

3.29 
3.30 Check liner for signs of elongation or bulging

  

3.24 Check liner for brittleness

  

3.25 Check liner for cuts and tears

  

3.31 Check liner for leaks, cuts and tears

  

3.26 Check liner for surface deterioration

  

3.32 Drain, clean and re-fill (see notes in AS1851)

  

3.33 Check sludge depth

  

3.34 Check tank base

Tanks with Liners – Above the Waterline

Tanks with Liners – Below the Waterline

Activity / System Failures  
& Comments Item No. Defect Type Description / Corrective Action Required or Repairs Completed

Defect Type Identified
1 – Critical Defect 2 – Non Critical Defect 3 – Non Conformance 4 – Recommendations Further information

   
recorded on notes page

I hereby certify that the above system has been routinely serviced in accordance with AS1851-2012 (Incorporating 

Amendment 1) and that the information on this service record is true and correct. This record does not infer 

compliance with all applicable building and fire safety legislation within the relevant jurisdiction.

Name
Technician

Signature

Date /      /

Name
Client

Signature

Date /      /

Name

Licence /  Permit  Holder  Maintenance complies with QDC, MP6.1 
 System is in proper working order 

QUEENSLAND BUILDINGS ONLY

Licence  
Type

Licence  
No.

FPAS 
No.

© FPA Australia 2016

Dry Pipe, Deluge / Water Spray  
and Pre-Action Systems

Fire Protection Association Australia Life Property Environment

Automatic Fire Sprinkler Systems

LB2B

START DATE / /
END DATE 

/ /START REPORT NO.

END REPORT NO.

SERVICE PROVIDER 
CONTACT DETAILS

SITE DETAILS

1 YEAR EDITION

AS 1851-2012 (Incorporating Amendment 1)LOGBOOK
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MEMBER ENGAGEMENT
An association is only as strong as its members, and the Executive has set a firm goal to improve 
activity for members nation-wide.

Our reformation of Local Coordinating Committees (LCC) in early 2019 was an essential first step 
towards this target, and we experienced an increase level of enthusiasm from members to take part.

For the first time in a while, a Member Update roadshow was held in July-August, 2019, which 
resulted in over 200 members attending across the country. Plans for a follow-up roadshow in 
February were postponed to May, and then had to be scrapped because of the pandemic.

With the inability to meet face-to-face there was a reduction in LCC meetings this year, but we 
expect this will change in the New Year.

Planning is already underway for Member Updates – and a possible State Conference series –  
for 2021, and we hope to reignite the interest we witnessed back in July, so that we can generate 
more activity at a local level.

We are also currently rewriting the rules surrounding the LCCs, which should be finalised in  
January – we hope to conduct an election for each Committee later in the year.

FPA Australia belongs to its members, and the LCC network will be the vehicle we need to deliver 
relevant activities and benefits to them.

A member briefing in 2019. Forums such as this allow FPA Australia to reach practitioners to inform them about 
changes to the industry. 
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THE VOICE OF THE FIRE PROTECTION 
INDUSTRY, ADVOCATING FOR BETTER 
FIRE SAFETY FOR THE COMMUNITY.
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FPA Australia has continued to be the Voice of the fire protection industry and to promote leading 
practices and sensible regulatory solutions.

Across the country, governments have continued to implement their strategies in response to 
the 2018 Shergold-Weir report, and to address concerns about poor construction, insufficient 
certification, and inadequate fire protection.

At a meeting of the Building Ministers Forum in July, 2019, FPA Australia was invited to join other 
associations advising governments about the best solutions to address these concerns.

The Association frequently participates in consultative forums to present the industry’s views,  
and will continue to advocate for reform, and for more national consistency in regulations.

TECHNICAL SUPPORT
FPA Australia’s Technical team plays an important role providing technical support and advice  
for members.

In 2019-20 this extended into answering queries about the Fire Protection Accreditation Scheme 
(FPAS) Fire Systems Design (FSD) and Fire Safety Assessment (FSA) categories.

In addition, we have continued to develop technical documents, such as the Good Practice Guide 
GPG‑08: Residential Smoke Alarms, and to make submissions on key policy areas, such as the 
review of the ACCC mandatory standards for portable fire extinguishers.

We also monitor the technical pages of FPA Australia’s SPARK community of interest and, where 
information is thought to be incorrect or misleading, will provide responses to guide the membership.

BUILDING REGULATION
FPA Australia is a strong supporter of the Australian Building Codes Board (ABCB) and a participant 
in its Building Codes Committee.

We have been active in the strategic review of the National Construction Code and the development 
of fire safety provisions and verification methods, as well as the consideration of relevant Proposals 
for Change and the development of NCC 2019 Volume 1 Amendment 1.

A public consultation version of NCC 2022 will be released in coming months for review.

FPA Australia has also been consulted by the ABCB on key projects, including the National 
Licensing Framework and the proposed Continuing Professional Development Framework, which 
will influence government policy throughout 2021.

Building Ministers Forum attendees, 18 July, 2019
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RESIDENTIAL SPRINKLERS
One of our biggest achievements from 2018-19 was the Adoption 
of FPAA101D and 101H sprinklers into the deemed-to-satisfy 
sections of the National Construction Code Volume 1.

These standards – an initiative of the Home Fire Sprinkler 
Coalition – now apply to Class 2 and 3 residential buildings above 
three storeys and up to 25 metres in height as an acceptable 
alternative to the use of AS2118 systems.

Over the last financial year, we have promoted the standards  
and encouraged their adoption by builders to improve residential 
fire safety.

FPA Australia has continued discussions about the use of these 
standards, and has provided a further submission that the 
requirement for these sprinklers will be extended in NCC 2022.

A Guide to Technical Specifications: FPAA101D and FPAA10H – 
Automatic Fire Sprinkler Systems Design and Installation – Drinking 
Water Supply and Hydrant Water Supply was published in May, 2020.

STANDARDS DEVELOPMENT
FPA Australia continues its representation on Standards Australia committees and in international forums.

We have continued collaborating on proposed updates to AS 1851 and regularly lend our expertise to 
work of over 20 other standards committees.

We were a key contributor to the recently published International Fire Safety Standards: Common 
Principles and see greater national and international consistency as beneficial to the fire protection 
industry and the broader community.

LICENSING AND ACCREDITATION
FPA Australia’s Technical team has been closely involved in the 
development of FPAS, particularly drafting exam questions, collating the 
scheme documents underpinning recognition in NSW, creating restricted 
levels for fire systems design, and ongoing marking of FSD papers.

Technical staff were particularly instrumental in drafting and presenting the 
Awareness sessions for FPAS Fire Safety Assessment, which educated 
practitioners about the role of an assessor and the importance of the 
National Construction Code and Australian Standards.

Many of our technical webinars and seminars to date have been focused 
on clarifying design and fire safety assessment, and we have prepared 
various materials to support practitioners, including the latest version of 
Good Practice Guide GPG‑04: Fire Safety Statements – New South Wales.

In Victoria, we have been involved in licensing discussions with the Victorian Building Authority,  
and have helped to influence the Authority’s decision-making to the benefit of members.

NSW REFORMS
In NSW, a lot of reform work is underway, in part being driven by the new Building Commissioner, 
David Chandler OAM.

This has been in response not only to the Shergold-Weir report, but also as a direct consequence of 
the cladding crisis and high profile building disasters such as Opal Towers in Homebush and Mascot 
Towers in southern Sydney.

The NSW Government has created a series of six Pillars to support policy development – covering 
regulation, rating systems, skills development, contracts, digital platforms, and research – which are 
overseen by a Steering Committee. FPA Australia is represented on each of these committees.
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In addition, work has been ongoing into the Design and Building Practitioners Act 2020, passed in 
June, and the regulations that will underpin it.

FPA Australia has been lobbying the NSW Government on these issues, trying to get sensible 
outcomes for the industry. A key focus was to ensure that the recognition of FPAS was maintained 
in the new legislation.

We also wrote in April to the Ministers for Planning and for Better Regulation to seek regulatory 
changes to allow amendments to be made to Annual Fire Safety Statements, and have been 
following up with them in an effort to see these through.

Of our own volition, we also have engaged regularly with the Government to get changes to 
regulations affecting the design and assessment roles and to get other parts of FPAS recognised.

PFAS FOAM CHANGES
Nationally, there have been moves to restrict the use of Per and Poly 
Fluoroalkyl Substances (PFAS) for fire-fighting purposes, due to the 
environmental damage such materials cause.

This saw the Association contribute both to the Australian 
National PFAS Position Statement and the European Chemicals 
Agency (ECHA) Annex XV report on proposed restriction on 
undecafluorohexanoic acid (PFHxA), its salts and related substances.

While we do not disagree with scaling back the use of PFAS foams, 
we have cautioned that the alternatives are not always effective 
for fighting high temperature or highly volatile fires, and that some 
common sense is needed.

These products can be prevented from causing damage if 
appropriate controls are in place, and proscriptions against their use should not come into place 
until such time as alternative substances can be demonstrated to work.

To guide the industry on PFAS foams, we have updated Information Bulletin IB‑06 Selection of 
firefighting foams.

CORONAVIRUS
In March, with the Coronavirus becoming more of a risk, FPA Australia wrote to every state and 
territory Minister about the need to protect maintenance and construction activities in order to 
ensure ongoing public safety.

We argued that these were essential service roles and should be exempt from restrictions, and we 
received support for this position in the form of a joint statement with AFAC.

These roles have largely been protected, and some governments responded with positive views on 
the industry’s role.

MEMBER CONTRIBUTIONS
As with a lot of FPA Australia’s activities, we are dependent on our members.

Our eight Technical Advisory Committees (see Key Contacts page) have continued to contribute 
to policy and standards work, helping to ensure FPA Australia is arguing positions that are strongly 
grounded in industry practice.

They also assist with the development and publication of standards and of FPA Australia technical 
documents, such as Information Bulletins, Position Statements and Good Practice Guides.

To assist with accreditation, we have also been running Industry Reference Groups, which have 
advised on various elements of FPAS, and the Local Coordinating Committee network has been a 
good source of information on local policy changes, resulting in a variety of submissions being made.
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CONTINUING TO DELIVER EVENTS 
ON IMPORTANT TOPICS TO INFORM 
THE FIRE PROTECTION INDUSTRY.

EVENTS
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2020 has not been an easy year for events.

Across the world, the pandemic has caused events organisers to rethink their business models  
in order to continue engaging with their customer base.

Face-to-face forums have been replaced with virtual webinars using programs such as Zoom, 
Teams, and GoToMeeting, as social distancing becomes standard practice.

Like everyone else, FPA Australia has had to adjust to this new normal, outsourcing our major 
events – Fire Australia 2021 and the Fire Protection Industry Awards – to ConferenceWorks,  
and delegating responsibility for technical webinars to the Technical team.

FIRE AUSTRALIA CONFERENCE AND TRADESHOW
In March, 2019, with the spectre of shutdowns occurring across the 
country, the Board had to make the difficult decision to cancel the Fire 
Australia Conference and Tradeshow.

The decision allowed the Association to reduce its risks and potential 
losses, but it meant that our marquee event could not proceed, for the 
first time ever.

This was obviously a great disappointment for all concerned, but 
fortunately we have been able to build on the groundwork done for 
2020 to set the stage for 2021.

With the return or roll over of our exhibitors, we have managed to 
minimise losses arising from the cancellation and set the scene for  
a successful event in 2021.

FPA Australia now turns its mind to next year, again in Sydney, where tradeshow bookings are 
underway, sponsors are signing up, and the call has gone out for conference papers.

However, there was one unexpected, but positive, outcome from the cancellation.

In July 2020, following the decision by the Victorian Government to lock down several public 
housing blocks, FPA Australia and brand sponsors Uptick chose to donate surplus 2020 branded 
bags to the Asylum Seeker Resource Centre (www.asrc.org.au).

These bags could not be reused by us, 
but were very helpful for the ASRC, who 
used them to help with delivering food 
and supplies to those who were unable 
to leave their apartments.

The Asylum Seeker Resource Centre 
were extremely appreciative and sent 
their sincere thanks to the Association.

Pictured with the ASRC’s Donations Coordinator, Community 
Food Program, Karen Quist is FPA Australia’s Paul Hodgson.
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FIRE PROTECTION INDUSTRY AWARDS
The Fire Protection Industry Awards were held on 
8 November, 2019, at Crown Casino, hosted by 
Hamish McLachlan.  

Twelve of the industry’s leaders were recognised for 
their contributions to fire protection.

The fourth year of the Awards saw a record number of 
submissions – a fantastic reflection on the industry’s 
growing drive to champion excellence. 

The independent judges – Trent Curtin, Amanda 
Leck, Blake Bambridge, and Bronwyn Weir – chose 
worthy recipients who demonstrated that the sector 
is continually striving to improve its protection of the 
community from the risk and effects of fire.

The Awards are now moving to coincide with the Fire 
Australia conference, and will be held as part of the 
Conference Dinner at Fire Australia 2021.

This will enable us to increase the profile of the Awards, and emphasise the importance of our 
industry leaders to the delivery of world-class fire safety and the protection of the community.   

The call for nominations will open at the end of November, 2020.

Qazi Samia Razzaque accepting the 
Young Achiever of the Year Award.
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SEMINARS AND FORUMS
The second half of 2019 saw FPA Australia running several well-attended webinars on a range of 
topics – pumpsets, automatic fire suppression systems, NSW Division 7 compliance, sprinklers, 
smoke hazard management, and lightweight construction.

We followed that up with a joint event in 
South Australia in February with Facilities 
Management Australia and Strata 
Communities Australia on the importance of 
using accredited practitioners.

However, with the introduction of restrictions 
as a result of the coronavirus, FPA Australia 
decided to move to the digital world and run 
a series of webinars, starting with topics that 
had been proposed for Fire Australia.

Since May, 2020, we have held around two 
webinars a month and we will continue to do  
so into 2021.

Ironically, the move to webinars has allowed us to increase member engagement, given that 
members don’t have to be physically in a particular location to participate.

Starting early next year, we plan to use a range of methods for delivering events, including a return 
to face-to-face seminars, with the possibility of live-streaming them at the same time.

The more we can reach our membership, 
the better informed our industry will be, and 
new technologies are showing us what the 
future of member engagement and events 
might look like. 
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ACCREDITATION 
& LICENSING

ADVOCATING FOR THE 
PROFESSIONAL RECOGNITION AND 
ACCREDITATION OF INDIVIDUALS 
WORKING ON CRITICAL LIFE-SAVING 
FIRE PROTECTION SYSTEMS AND 
EQUIPMENT IN AUSTRALIA.
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The 2019-2020 financial year was a busy one for accreditation and licensing, at FPA Australia with 
the ongoing development of the Fire Protection Accreditation Scheme (FPAS) ahead of recognition 
by the New South Wales Government, and continued demand for FPAS Inspect and Test 
accreditation, cabling licensing, and Bushfire Planning and Design (BPAD) accreditation.

FIRE PROTECTION ACCREDITATION SCHEME (FPAS) – FSD AND FSA
Eighteen months of solid work by FPA Australia came to a crescendo with the formal recognition 
of the FPAS categories of Fire Systems Design (FSD) and Fire Safety Assessment (FSA) by the 
Secretary of the NSW Department of Customer Service.

Originally intended for approval in April, 2020, the launch 
was pushed back to 1 July, 2020, by the Secretary due 
to issues with the rollout of the scheme arising from the 
coronavirus pandemic. This delay proved to be beneficial for 
FPA Australia and the broader industry as it gave us more 
time to get practitioners through accreditation.

Approval of FPA Australia by the NSW Government as an accrediting authority under that State’s 
co-regulatory model is a significant achievement, representing the first time that any Australian 
government has formally recognised the level of rigour and reliability associated with the FPAS 
scheme.

The launch was the result of hard work by the Association, given that the FSD accreditation had  
to be enhanced and the FSA class had to be built from scratch – the biggest development of FPAS 
since the launch of Inspect and Test (I&T) accreditation in 2013.

This meant that we had to create all of the rules for the 
different classes, implement the infrastructure to deliver 
them, create exam questions, and introduce an awareness 
and assessment regime that was increasingly moved online.

Convincing practitioners not only that recognition was 
coming, but that accreditation was going to be compulsory, 
proved to be an equally challenging exercise.

One method we have used to reach out to practitioners, and to reduce the number of phone calls 
and e-mails received by the staff, is a weekly Q&A session, where we answer applicants’ questions 
about FSA and FSD – this has been well-received, as the 17 webinars held by 30 June, 2020, have 
been attended by 440 practitioners.

The response to impending recognition 
has been incredible, with 130 practitioners 
recognised for FPAS FSD and 559 for 
FSA at the time of launching and over a 
thousand applicants working their way 
through accreditation – these numbers are 
expected to double before the end of the 
2020 calendar year.

All practitioners are now listed on a 
searchable register on the FPA Australia 
website, which allows clients to check to 
see whether someone is accredited and  
for what.

This makes it easier for clients to comply 
with their own statutory responsibility to 
confirm that the practitioners they use are 
competent to do the work.
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FPA Australia is the only private sector accrediting authority in NSW, a show of recognition by the 
NSW Government that the Association has the expertise to accredit individuals with the skills, 
knowledge, and experience required to be an Accredited Practitioner (Fire Safety).

Approval has been granted for five years, but the next 12 months will be pivotal for FPA Australia  
to demonstrate that this faith has been well founded.

If successful, this will be a launching pad for negotiations with state and territory governments, 
which may result in formal recognition in other parts of Australia.

As at 30 June 2020, 181 practitioners were accredited under BPAD.

APPLICATIONS AND ACCREDITED PRACTITIONERS
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FIRE PROTECTION ACCREDITATION SCHEME (FPAS) – FSC AND I&T
Aside from the changes introduced in NSW, the 
Association saw continued support in 2019-20 for all 
classes of accreditation under FPAS.

Fire Systems Certification (FSC) accreditation saw a 
modest rise, with 24 practitioners now accredited, while 
Inspect and Test (I&T) had 1,770 accredited practitioners  
by the end of the financial year.

Although neither of these accreditations are compulsory, we are advocating for FSC to be 
adopted by the NSW Government to help improve as-built compliance of fire systems, now that 
the Design and Building Practitioners Act 2020 has been passed.

For I&T, FPA Australia’s 2020 Vision (now the 2021 Vision, 
thanks to COVID-19) still aims to have all technicians 
working for member companies to be accredited under 
this category.

To support this, we have been presenting to owners 
and building managers about the importance of using 
accredited practitioners and the protections they offer 

to clients through training, ethical standards, and insurance – these have been well received, but 
more engagement will be needed.

Overall, however, the ongoing commitment of practitioners to what is still a voluntary accreditation 
scheme has been admirable, and we are proud that there is clear support for the recognition of 
skills and knowledge and experience throughout the fire protection industry.

CABLING REGISTRATION SCHEME 
FPA Australia is one of only five organisations recognised by the Australian Communications and 
Media Authority (ACMA) to run a registration scheme for cabling technicians.

Registration is mandatory under the Telecommunications Cabling Provider Rules 2000 and 
AMCA delegates authority to the Association to ensure that this is achieved for any technicians 
installing cables for the telecommunications network. FPA Australia continues to promote industry 
compliance and works closely with AMCA to achieve this.

We keep registered cablers informed through our website and via e-mail alerts about any 
changes to regulations and any developments in the industry, and this engagement will continue 
throughout 2021.

As at 30 June 2020, there were 2,796 cabling technicians registered by the Association.

BUSHFIRE PLANNING AND DESIGN (BPAD) 
The Bushfire Planning and Design Accreditation Scheme 
(BPAD) continues to be the only scheme that recognises 
the skills, knowledge, and experience of practitioners 
carrying out bushfire planning and design.

FPA Australia supports accredited practitioners with 
specific training courses that address the roles and responsibilities of professionals involved in 
this field of work and help to improve the professionalism and rigour of this type of design work.

Although not mandatory, BPAD has been adopted in NSW, Victoria, and Western Australia, and 
we are in discussions in other jurisdictions about the possibility of expanding it.
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FIRE PROTECTION 
INDUSTRY (ODS & SGG) 
BOARD

LEADING THE FIRE PROTECTION 
INDUSTRY ON ITS EFFORTS TO 
PROTECT THE ENVIRONMENT FROM 
OZONE DEPLETING SUBSTANCES.
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The Fire Protection Industry (ODS and SGG) Board continues to implement and administer the fire 
protection industry permit scheme, which grants permits to individuals and businesses who handle, 
store, acquire, and dispose of extinguishing agents listed in Schedule 1 to the Ozone Protection and 
Synthetic Greenhouse Gas Management Act 1989 (the Act).

In this role, the Board:

• identifies, promotes, and supports best practice activities in the fire protection industry; 

• manages the permit and licensing system to ensure applicants meet minimum standards  
of competency prior to gaining a licence; 

• communicates and consults with the industry to encourage and facilitate regulatory 
compliance; 

• develops and distributes learning and assessment resources about ozone depleting 
substances and synthetic greenhouse gases (ODS and SGG); and 

• reviews and audits practitioners to ensure ongoing compliance with the Act.

The 2019-20 financial year saw the Board focus on five key strategic areas: technology,  
compliance, industry engagement, discharge reporting, and training.

TECHNOLOGY
The Board focused this year on learning more about emerging technologies and reporting about 
them to the wider industry.

It also considered potential barriers to the adoption of new technologies and practices and developed 
strategies for how the Board might be able to help practitioners overcoming these hurdles.

A mixture of seminars and case studies were thought to be the best way to get the message across 
to the industry – the case studies were uploaded to the Technology Corner of the FPIB website.

COMPLIANCE
The Board believes that approaches to 
compliance need to be tailored towards 
educating and encouraging industry to fulfil 
their obligations.

This is being achieved by increasing our 
presence in the industry, speaking directly 
to people, and educating permit holders 
where they display noncompliant behaviour 
that is easily preventable or avoidable.

This approach has been enhanced by engaging with the insurance industry, reviewing the Good 
Practice Guide, and revamping the Board’s self-assessment desktop checklists.

DISCHARGE REPORTING
Between 1 July, 2019, and 30 June, 2020, the Board reported 46 discharge incidents to the 
Department of Agriculture, Water, and the Environment and its Office of Compliance.

We estimate that this is only a moderate percentage of the true number of incidents, due to a lack 
of knowledge about requirements to report, a lack of care and due diligence to report, and the fear 
of prosecution or financial penalty.

In response, the Board implemented a series of activities, including reviewing the notification form 
and issuing a survey, as well as improving communications, which saw an increase in reporting of 
around 30%.

We are also looking to expand industry engagement to the mining and maritime sectors to address 
a lack of reporting in those areas.
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INDUSTRY ENGAGEMENT
While the first priority of the Board is to administer 
the permit scheme, engagement is the second. 
Without engagement, it would be difficult to know 
what is occurring at the industry coalface.

Issues within the mining and maritime sectors 
have encouraged the Board to engage more with 
these industries, and we have worked to build 
relationships with the Association of Mining and 
Exploration Companies (AMEC), the Australian 
Maritime Safety Authority (AMSA) and the 
Australian Boating Industry Association (ABIA).

We have also engaged further with the Department 
of Defence and considered their proposed 
processes for submitting discharge incidents to the Board. We are looking to expand upon this 
relationship to get a better handle on the level of discharge within the defence sector.

Our relationship with the aviation industry is also getting stronger, and we continue to find it to be 
the most compliant sector, while also being one of the biggest users of ODSs and SGGs.

TRAINING
2019-20 saw the Board increase its presence in the training sector, in an effort to be involved in 
discussions with key stakeholder that might influence the relevant training of practitioners.

This has been done to ensure that any relevant Registered Training Organisations (RTOs) and 
Skilled Services Organisations (SSOs) feel comfortable to approach the Board when they feel 
there are concerns that need to be addressed.

Key activities in this area included:

• engaging with SSOs, Artibus, and the Australian Industry Standards Council to get 
information on updates to training packages, which resulted in the Board being invited to 
take part in the 2020 industry skills survey; 

• creating a register of training for licences that was published on the FPIB website, so that 
applicants could see what is required; 

• created a link on the FPIB website to allow practitioners to report issues with training; and 

• developing a briefing template to capture information on technologies and business practices 
that might affect training or increase the risk of emissions.

BREAK DOWN OF DIFFERENT LICENCE CATEGORIES
There has been a moderate increase in technicians holding both a qualified 2 and 3 licence over 
the past few years, which has continued over the financial year.

The Board considers this to be evidence of a growing pool of technicians suitably equipped and 
licenced to carry out fixed system testing and maintenance – a key weapon against reducing the 
emission of ODS and SGG fire systems.

The number of technicians holding at least one type of qualified licence fluctuated randomly 
over the course of the 2019-2020 year but finished on a big number of 1,188 by June, with the 
movement of a number of trainees to a qualified.

The Board will look to improve data collection and analysis over 2020-21 to get a better handle of 
what is happening in the industry, and to communicate more effectively with relevant stakeholder 
groups to increase reporting and enhance education.
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EAHL NUMBER COMPARISON BETWEEN 2006-2020

Jun-06 Jun-07 Jun-08 Jun-09 Jun-10 Jun-11 Jun-12 Jun-13 Jun-14 Jun-15 Jun-16 Jun-17 Jun-18 Jun-19 Jun-20

Qualified EAHL 0 0 0 0 3 19 51 97 177 587 948 1,082 1,137 1,161 1,178

Experienced EAHL 892 917 929 923 1,088 1,178 1,271 1,238 1,154 599 160 146 133 126 130

Trainee EAHL 17 20 43 56 142 108 73 71 81 69 30 26 33 46 49
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DEVELOPING CONTEMPORARY, 
HIGH-QUALITY, AND 
INFORMATIVE TRAINING TO 
DELIVER A PROFESSIONAL, 
QUALIFIED, AND COMPETENT 
FIRE PROTECTION INDUSTRY.

EDUCATION 
& BUSHFIRE 
SERVICES
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Despite obvious logistical challenges with the pandemic, FPA Australia remains committed to its 
goal of ensuring that fire protection practitioners are trained and qualified.

We continue to invest in training products, staff, and training facilities in support of our role as a 
registered training organisation and to deliver better qualified, more professional practitioners to 
protect the community from the risk of fire.

DELIVERING HIGH QUALITY TRAINING
FPA Australia delivers both nationally recognised qualifications and industry-specific short 
courses and bespoke training courses designed to meet specific customer needs.  

Our products are developed to help practitioners to obtain knowledge, acquire new skills, and 
develop networks that will support them and their businesses.  

We continue to create new course content, in line with changing needs and standards, in order 
to service the fire protection industry.  

For example, we launched a water-based fire suppression course last year, and another on fire 
detection and alarms is due to be launched late in 2020.

Clearly, face-to-face training has not been possible lately, although we hope to be able to re-enter 
the classroom soon.

However, our model of self-directed learning, 
and the introduction of video assessment, 
has made training more accessible and 
allowed us to continue training practitioners 
and support their attainment of vocational 
qualifications.

Overall, we trained 767 students in 2019-20 
and assessed 799, delivering 2,599 units of 
competency through the year. 

A NEW APPROACH TO TRAINING
As part of the restructure of FPA Australia, 
the decision was made earlier in the year to 
change our current delivery model.

A call for expressions of interest went out 
in April, 2020, seeking practitioners willing 
to contract to the Association and to deliver 
training and assessment for our students. 
Several people nominated to help us, and 
we are currently vetting their qualifications. 
We are also setting up the administrative 
arrangements needed to oversee outsourcing.

The intention of this change is for the Association to have locally based trainers who can come 
on board when needed to deliver training and to mark papers, rather than relying upon a couple 
of permanent trainers that we fly around the country. This will allow us to be more responsive to 
customer needs.

Although implementation of the new arrangement has taken longer than anticipated, contract 
training will be in place and operating in 2021.
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FIRE PROTECTION 
TRAINING ACADEMY
Although a lack of access and the 
inability to travel interstate has tended to 
complicate delivery, work has continued 
on the Fire Protection Training Academy’s 
Sydney campus in the grounds of 
Fire and Rescue NSW’s Orchard Hills 
Essential Services Academy.

Thanks to the support of our members, 
construction of the wet system training 
rooms progressed throughout the year, 
finally being completed in October, 2020.

Generous contributions to the project have allowed us to create the most advanced fire 
protection training facilities in Australia, which will serve future technicians well for years to come.

An example of what can be achieved in partnership with government, the Fire Protection Training 
Academy will significantly increase our ability to deliver training to practitioners on the latest 
available equipment.

This means that between the NSW and Victorian training centres we now have:

• 16 fire detection, alarm, and warning systems, 

• 3 inert special hazard systems; 

• 6 wet control assemblies; 

• 5 deluge control assemblies; 

• 5 pre-action control assemblies; and 

• various other fire protection systems.

The installations mean that we can now 
deliver training on:

• the routine service of fire suppression, 
fire detection, special hazards and emergency 
lighting systems; 

• the design of fire protection systems; 

• the programming of fire detection systems; 

• the installation of systems; 

• fire safety assessment; 

• the operation and purpose 
of fire protection systems (for 
facility managers, insurance 
companies / fire wardens); 
and 

• backflow prevention training 
(for plumbers).

We hope that this facility will serve as a model for other jurisdictions, and we are looking to open 
up discussions with other fire brigades to see what might be possible.

A formal launch of the Academy will occur in the New Year, and we plan to showcase 
the campus as one of the potential off-site tours during Fire Australia 2021 in May.



E
D

U
C

A
T

IO
N

 &
 B

U
S

H
F

IR
E

 S
E

R
V

IC
E

S
3

1
F

P
A

 A
U

S
T

R
A

L
IA

 A
N

N
U

A
L

 R
E

P
O

R
T

 2
0

19
-2

0

TRAINING ADVOCACY
FPA Australia continues to be active and vocal within the Industry Skills development system, 
advocating for training packages that are relevant for the fire protection industry.

As always, our focus is firmly on improving the skills of the fire protection industry, in order to 
deliver better safety for the community.

We continue to play a pivotal role in the review of the existing inspection and testing qualifications, 
and have sponsored the development of two draft qualifications and 26 new units of competency.

Our goal continues to be the adoption by government of new qualifications that will deliver a 
better trained industry and offer a clearly-defined career pathway for those undertaking routine 
service activities.

A more skilled, more professional industry is vital to the minimisation of fire risk and the protection 
of the community.

BUSHFIRE SERVICES
FPA Australia works closely with governments, agencies, and bushfire practitioners around 
Australia to develop and implement effective bushfire building and planning policies.

We do this in part through Bushfire Working Groups (BWGs) currently in place in each of the 
three jurisdictions where the BPAD Scheme operates, which are comprised of representatives 
from BPAD practitioners, fire agencies, planning departments, local government, and associated 
industry stakeholders.

In addition, over the 2019-20 financial year, the Association has made several submissions to 
various inquiries, including into the 2019-20 black summer bushfires.

These have focused on improving the recognition and use of professional bushfire consultants in 
building and planning in order to improve bushfire protection and community resilience.

We also continue to conduct training courses and professional development seminars, such as 
the five-day Bushfire Attack Level (BAL) Assessment training course, and in February held our 
first ever course in Victoria.

FIREMAPS
In October, 2019, FPA Australia 
launched a new bushfire 
planning and mapping product 
known as FireMaps.

A joint initiative with software 
developers and bushfire 
experts, FireMaps lets bushfire 
consultants develop professional, 
high quality bushfire maps to 
support their businesses.

It is a great example of leveraging 
the power of an Association to 
work with the customers, as we 
have helped bushfire consultants to offer improvements and enhancements to the product and 
share their experiences through a dedicated SPARK community.
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INFORMING INDUSTRY AND THE 
COMMUNITY ABOUT THE IMPORTANCE 
OF FIRE PROTECTION.

COMMUNICATIONS
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Communications with members and with the broader community is an important function for 
FPA Australia.

Our main vehicles – Fire Australia magazine, FireSignals, member communications – continue to 
be the focus of our activity, but we are responsive to media inquiries and constantly looking for 
opportunities to place content with other publications.

Following changes to the Communications team, FPA Australia is currently taking a closer look at 
how it communicates, and will roll out a new strategy in 2021.

INDUSTRY AND MEMBER COMMUNICATIONS
Fire Australia is our main communications platform, allowing us to promote our activities and to 
publish articles of relevance to the members. A partnership with AFAC and the Bushfire and Natural 
Hazards CRC, this quarterly magazine reaches over 5,000 recipients across the fire protection 
industry, and is strongly supported by contributors and advertisers alike.

FireSignals is our monthly e-newsletter, which allows us to keep members and stakeholders informed 
about recent developments in the industry. The sponsored newsletter reaches around 9,000 readers, 
and is a useful platform for the Board and staff to highlight important information. Since staff changes 
in April, FireSignals has increased in size, and now covers a variety of fire-related topics.

E-mails are sent out regularly to our database, mostly to highlight single issues of relevance to 
members or to promote events and other products.

Social media is used to highlight key items and reinforce messaging from other vehicles. 
FPA Australia is active on LinkedIn, Facebook, Twitter, and Instagram.

SPARK is our online forum for members to share information about the industry and seek guidance 
from their peers. FPA Australia monitors these discussions and contributes where appropriate. Some 
of our SPARK forums are restricted to members, whereas others are open to accredited practitioners 
and other relevant stakeholders.

Together, these tools provide FPA Australia with a platform for reaching its stakeholders and 
the community maintaining an understanding about fire safety and developments within the fire 
protection industry.

FPA Australia TV, our YouTube channel, is currently being reviewed to see if we can use it 
more effectively in the future. We see it as an ideal vehicle for conducting more community 
outreach on fire safety and to connect members of the public with leaders in the industry.

INDUSTRY PROMOTION
FPA Australia staff frequently present to industry and public forums on topics ranging from 
accreditation to technical issues to bushfire policy.

Articles about the fire protection industry produced by the Communications team have been 
published in trade journals for fire protection, construction, facility management, architecture, strata 
management, the pump industry, and waste management, and we are starting to reach out to the 
child care and aged care communities to promote good fire safety practices.

FPA Australia also worked with other industry bodies and regulators on content, such as the 
Australian Building Codes Board, the Owners Corporation Network, the Australian Construction 
Industry Forum, and many others.

MEDIA ENGAGEMENT
FPA Australia is a key contact for issues relating to fire 
safety, and the Association has been in strong demand 
for its technical expertise.

Media mentions have, however, reduced over 2019-20 
from the high point during the combustible cladding crisis.

FPA Australia argues that Australia needs a nationally-
consistent regulatory environment that includes effective 
enforcement mechanisms, the need for appropriate 
minimum competency standards for specific job roles,  
and the critical nature of fire protection in safeguarding  
the community.

MEDIA APPEARANCES IN 2019-20

PRINT & ONLINE 
APPEARANCES

32

BROADCAST 
APPEARANCES

103
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT
The Directors are pleased to present their report on the financial statements for the financial year 
ended 30 June, 2020, of Fire Protection Association Australia (“the Association”).

DIRECTORS NAMES
The names of the directors in office at any time during or since the end of the year are:

Board Member Tenure Responsibilities

Bill Lea Director since 2009 President

Elected Director

Co-Company Secretary (from April, 2020)

Rhondel Johannessen Director since 2012 Vice President

Elected Director

Christopher Orr Director since 1997 Elected Director

Resigned June, 2020

Hank Van Ravenstein Director since 2013 
(ended November, 2019)

Non Elected Director

Elissa Fazio Director since 2018 Elected Director

David Blackett Director since 2018 
(ended November, 2019)

Non Elected Director

Russell Porteous Director since 2019 Elected Director

Co-Company Secretary (from April, 2020)

David Isaac Director since 2019 Elected Director

The directors have been in office since the start of the year to the date of this report unless 
otherwise stated.

SIGNIFICANT CHANGES IN STATE OF AFFAIRS
Significant changes in the state of affairs of the company during the financial year, were as follows:

On 11th March 2020 the World Health Organisation declared an ongoing global outbreak of a novel 
coronavirus, known as ‘coronavirus disease 2019’ (‘COVID-19’) as a pandemic. While the broader 
economy has been impacted significantly, Fire Protection Association Australia has continued 
to provide its services to members and the broader fire protection industry where possible 
within the prevailing restrictions. This has involved a significant transformation into the delivery of 
services online. Some activities have been impacted more than others including both training and 
conferences, which were previously delivered to customers face-to-face. While Fire Protection 
Association Australia has largely maintained its operational activity so far, the company was not able 
to hold their annual Fire Australia event in May 2020, due to the restrictions.

The full impact of the pandemic on Fire Protection Association Australia will not be fully quantifiable 
for sometime. However in the short term Fire Protection Association Australia continues to operate 
largely at its normal capacity in most areas, and capacity is expected to return to normal activities 
once restrictions are lifted.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES
The principal activity of the Association in the course of the financial year was to act as a non-profit 
technical, educational and accrediting organisation, advocating to create a fire safer environment for 
all Australians and to assist the industry and the community to safeguard life and property against 
fire. No significant change in the nature of those activities has taken place during that period.
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MEETINGS OF DIRECTORS

Directors Directors’ meetings 
eligible to attend

Directors’ meetings 
attended

Bill Lea 10 10

Rhondel Johannessen 10 10

Christopher Orr 10 10

Hank Van Ravenstein 4 4

Elissa Fazio 10 10

David Blackett 4 4

Russell Porteous 10 10

David Isaac 6 6

OUR VISION AND PURPOSE
A safer community where loss of life, injury, and damage to property and the environment are 
minimised through effective fire protection.

OUR MISSION
As the peak body, FPA Australia represents and supports our members, and works with government, 
business and other stakeholders to:

• promote a world class fire protection industry;

• deliver education and direction on industry best practice;

• develop, maintain and recognise professional competence and conduct;

• create and deliver career pathways;

• provide relevant business services, resources and networking;

• advocate to government and other stakeholders for continuous improvement of policy, legislation,

• codes and standards; and

• invest in research and advocacy to develop and implement improved fire protection.

OUR VALUES

INTEGRITY
Behaving ethically and respectfully, acting with loyalty, honesty, compassion and transparency.

INDEPENDENCE
Expressing our views free of bias, coercion, favouritism and external interest.

EFFECTIVENESS
Achieving tangible and relevant outcomes informed by engagement with our members and the industry.

PROFESSIONALISM
Committing to the continuous advancement and improvement of the Association and its members.

ACCOUNTABILITY
Taking responsibility for our decisions and actions.
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KEY PERFORMANCE INDICATORS
To help evaluate whether the activities the Association established during the year have achieved its 
objectives, the Association uses the following key performance indicators to measure, analyse and 
monitor its performance:

• The total quantity of accredited practitioners and members

• The financial performance against set budgets

• The level of legislative change that improves the level of fire protection within the community

• Increased awareness of the need for registered and accredited practitioners working within 
the broader

• fire protection industry

• Better quality building outcomes that lead to consumer confidence in the Building & 
Construction Industry

ASSOCIATION WIND UP
The company is incorporated under the Corporations Act 2001 and is a company limited by 
guarantee. If the company is wound up, the Constitution states that each member is required to 
contribute to a maximum of $10 each towards meeting any outstandings and obligations of the 
company. At 30 June 2020 the number of members was 1,781. The combined total amount that 
members of the company are liable to contribute if the company is wound up is $17,810.

AUDITOR’S INDEPENDENCE DECLARATION
A copy of the auditor’s independence declaration under Division 60-40 of the Australian Charities 
and Not-For-Profits Commission Act 2012 in relation to the audit for the financial year is provided 
with this report.

Signed on behalf of the board of directors.

Bill Lea 
President

Rhondel Johannessen 
Vice President

Date: 12 November 2020
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FIRE PROTECTION ASSOCIATION AUSTRALIA
ABN: 30 005 366 576

AUDITOR'S INDEPENDENCE DECLARATION
TO THE DIRECTORS OF FIRE PROTECTION ASSOCIATION AUSTRALIA

In relation to the independent audit for the year ended 30 June 2020, to the best of my knowledge and
belief there have been no contraventions of any applicable code of professional conduct including APES 110
Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (including Independence Standards) and the Corporations Act
2001.

D A KNOWLES PITCHER PARTNERS

Partner Melbourne

Date: 12 November 2020

- 6 -

Pitcher Partners. An independent Victorian Partnership ABN 27 975 255 196. Level 13, 664 Collins Street, Docklands, VIC 3008

Pitcher Partners is an association of independent firms. Liability limited by a scheme approved under Professional Standards Legislation.

Pitchers Partners is a member of the global network of Baker Tilly International Limited, the members of which are separate and independent legal entities.

Adelaide  Brisbane  Melbourne  Newcastle  Sydney  Perth     pitcher.com.au
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FIRE PROTECTION ASSOCIATION AUSTRALIA
ABN: 30 005 366 576

STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2020

Note 2020 2019

$ $

Revenue and other income

Revenue from contracts with customers 2 7,566,573 6,722,603

Jobkeeper revenue 2 150,000 -

Cashboost income 2 62,500 -

Payroll tax refund 2 696,779 -

8,475,852 6,722,603

Less: expenses

Cost of sales 3 (4,477,918) (4,340,199)

Administration expenses (1,442,320) (1,502,574)

Distribution expenses (565) (581)

Marketing expenses (60,010) (14,061)

Occupancy expenses (107,622) (322,189)

Borrowing costs 3 (26,174) -

Consulting expenses (70,029) (75,272)

Depreciation and amortisation 3 (576,798) (231,190)

Other expenses (610,678) (367,259)

(7,372,114) (6,853,325)

Profit / (loss) before income tax expense 1,103,738 (130,722)

Other comprehensive income for the year - -

Total comprehensive income 1,103,738 (130,722)

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements.

- 7 -
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FIRE PROTECTION ASSOCIATION AUSTRALIA
ABN: 30 005 366 576

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
AS AT 30 JUNE 2020

Note 2020 2019

$ $

Current assets

Cash and cash equivalents 4 4,390,515 2,908,970

Receivables 5 997,016 129,832

Inventories 6 15,166 105,665

Other assets 7 125,382 140,032

Total current assets 5,528,079 3,284,499

Non-current assets

Intangible assets 8 344,960 466,770

Lease assets 9 562,376 -

Property, plant and equipment 10 218,385 313,755

Total non-current assets 1,125,721 780,525

Total assets 6,653,800 4,065,024

Current liabilities

Payables 11 652,452 564,627

Lease liabilities 9 264,787 -

Borrowings 12 11,923 23,238

Provisions 13 285,866 379,636

Other liabilities 14 3,015,000 2,130,675

Total current liabilities 4,230,028 3,098,176

Non-current liabilities

Lease liabilities 9 367,757 -

Provisions 13 20,088 34,659

Total non-current liabilities 387,845 34,659

Total liabilities 4,617,873 3,132,835

Net assets 2,035,927 932,189

Member's Funds

Accumulated surplus 2,035,927 932,189

Total Member's Funds 2,035,927 932,189

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements.

- 8 -
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FIRE PROTECTION ASSOCIATION AUSTRALIA
ABN: 30 005 366 576

STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN MEMBERS' FUNDS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2020

Accumulated
surplus

Total members
funds

$ $

Balance as at 1 July 2018 1,062,911 1,062,911

Profit/(loss) for the year (130,722) (130,722)

Total comprehensive income for the year (130,722) (130,722)

Balance as at 1 July 2019 932,189 932,189

Profit for the year 1,103,738 1,103,738

Total comprehensive income for the year 1,103,738 1,103,738

Balance as at 30 June 2020 2,035,927 2,035,927

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements.

- 9 -
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FIRE PROTECTION ASSOCIATION AUSTRALIA
ABN: 30 005 366 576

STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2020

Note 2020 2019

$ $

Cash flow from operating activities

Receipts from customers 9,270,548 7,709,990

Payments to suppliers and employees (7,432,640) (7,229,854)

Interest received 30,016 38,818

Finance costs (26,174) -

Net cash provided by operating activities 15(b) 1,841,750 518,954

Cash flow from investing activities

Payment for plant, equipment and intangibles (35,692) (263,112)

Payments relating to capitalised training modules (82,908) (164,990)

Net cash used in investing activities (118,600) (428,102)

Cash flow from financing activities

Proceeds from borrowings (11,315) 6,504

Principal portion of lease payments (230,290) -

Net cash provided by / (used in) financing activities (241,605) 6,504

Reconciliation of cash

Cash at beginning of the financial year 2,908,970 2,811,614

Net increase in cash held 1,481,545 97,356

Cash at end of financial year 15(a) 4,390,515 2,908,970

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements.

- 10 -
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FIRE PROTECTION ASSOCIATION AUSTRALIA
ABN: 30 005 366 576

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2020

NOTE 1: STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The directors have determined that the company is not a reporting entity on the basis that, in the opinion
of the directors, there are unlikely to exist users of the financial report who are unable to command the
preparation of reports tailored so as to satisfy, specifically, all of their information needs. Accordingly, this
financial report is a special purpose financial report, which has been prepared to satisfy the financial
reporting requirements of the Australian Charities and Not-for-profits Commission Act 2012.

The financial report covers Fire Protection Association Australia as an individual entity. Fire Protection
Association Australia is a company limited by guarantee, incorporated and domiciled in Australia. Fire
Protection Association Australia is a not-for-profit entity for the purpose of preparing the financial
statements.

The financial report was approved by the directors as at the date of the directors' report.

The financial report has been prepared in accordance with the Australian Charities and Not-for-profits
Commission Act 2012, the recognition and measurement requirements specified by all Australian
Accounting Standards and Interpretations, and the disclosure requirements of:

AASB 101: Presentation of Financial Statements

AASB 107: Cash Flow Statements

AASB 108: Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting Estimates and Errors

AASB 1054: Australian Additional Disclosures

The following specific accounting policies, which are consistent with the previous period unless otherwise
stated, have been adopted in the preparation of this financial report:

(a) Basis of preparation of the financial report

Historical Cost Convention

The financial report has been prepared under the historical cost convention, as modified by revaluations to
fair value for certain classes of assets and liabilities as described in the accounting policies.

Coronavirus (COVID-19)

Since the declaration by the World Health Organisation on 11 March 2020, of the Coronavirus as a
pandemic, there has been a significant impact on local and world economies. This pandemic may have an
impact on the financial position and may affect financial performance of the company in the future.

(b) Going concern

The financial report has been prepared on a going concern basis, which contemplates continuity of normal
business activities and the realisation of assets and the settlement of liabilities in the ordinary course of
business.

- 11 -
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FIRE PROTECTION ASSOCIATION AUSTRALIA
ABN: 30 005 366 576

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2020

NOTE 1: STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(c) Income tax

No provision for income tax has been raised as the company is exempt from income tax under Division 50
of the Income Tax Assessment Act 1997.

(d) Revenue

Revenue from sale of goods is recognised when the significant risks and rewards of ownership of the goods
have passed to the buyer and the costs incurred or to be incurred in respect of the transaction can be
measured reliably. Risks and rewards of ownership are considered passed to the buyer at the time of
delivery of the goods to the customer.

Membership & Subscription fees are recognised on a basis that reflects the timing, nature and value of the
benefit provided if the fee entitles the member to services or publications to be provided during the
membership period, or to purchase goods or services at prices lower than those charged to non-members.
Membership & Subscriptions revenue is recognised only to the extent that the membership benefit is
provided in a given financial period.

Revenue from organising and hosting events is recognised in the period in which the events are held.

Revenue for the provision of Education and Training services is recognised in the reporting periods in which
the services are rendered by reference to the stage of completion of the services provided.  The stage of
completion is determined by the proportion that costs incurred to date bear to the estimated total costs of
the transaction. 

Licencing and Accreditation revenue is recognised in the reporting period in which the licence or
accreditation is applicable to by reference to the period they cover.

All revenue is measured net of the amount of goods and services tax (GST).

(e) Employee benefits

(i) Short-term employee benefit obligations

Liabilities arising in respect of wages and salaries, annual leave and other employee benefits (other than
termination benefits) expected to be settled wholly before twelve months after the end of the reporting
period are measured at the (undiscounted) amounts based on remuneration rates which are expected to
be paid when the liability is settled. The expected cost of short-term employee benefits in the form of
compensated absences such as annual leave is recognised in the provision for employee benefits. All other
short-term employee benefit obligations are presented as payables in the statement of financial position.

- 12 -
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FIRE PROTECTION ASSOCIATION AUSTRALIA
ABN: 30 005 366 576

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2020

NOTE 1: STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(e) Employee benefits (Continued)

(ii) Long-term employee benefit obligations

The provision for other long-term employee benefits, including obligations for long service leave and annual
leave, which are not expected to be settled wholly before twelve months after the end of the reporting
period, are measured at the present value of the estimated future cash outflow to be made in respect of
the services provided by employees up to the reporting date. Expected future payments incorporate
anticipated future wage and salary levels, durations of service and employee turnover, and are discounted
at rates determined by reference to market yields at the end of the reporting period on government bonds
that are denominated in the currency in which the benefits will be paid. Any remeasurements for changes
in assumptions of obligations for other long-term employee benefits are recognised in profit or loss in the
periods in which the change occurs.

Other long-term employee benefit obligations are presented as current liabilities in the statement of
financial position if the company does not have an unconditional right to defer settlement for at least
twelve months after the reporting date, regardless of when the actual settlement is expected to occur. All
other long-term employee benefit obligations are presented as non-current liabilities in the statement of
financial position.

(f) Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents include cash on hand and at banks, short-term deposits with an original maturity
of three months or less held at call with financial institutions, and bank overdrafts. Bank overdrafts are
shown within borrowings in current liabilities in the statement of financial position.

(g) Inventories

Inventories held for sale are measured at the lower of cost and net realisable value.

(h) Financial instruments

Classification of financial assets

Financial assets recognised by the company are subsequently measured in their entirety at either amortised
cost or fair value, subject to their classification and whether the company irrevocably designates the
financial asset on initial recognition at fair value through other comprehensive income (FVtOCI) in
accordance with the relevant criteria in AASB 9.

Financial assets not irrevocably designated on initial recognition at FVtOCI are classified as subsequently
measured at amortised cost, FVtOCI or fair value through profit or loss (FVtPL) on the basis of both:

(a) the company’s business model for managing the financial assets; and

(b) the contractual cash flow characteristics of the financial asset.

- 13 -
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FIRE PROTECTION ASSOCIATION AUSTRALIA
ABN: 30 005 366 576

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2020

NOTE 1: STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(h) Financial instruments (Continued)

Classification of financial liabilities

Financial liabilities classified as held-for-trading, contingent consideration payable by the company for the
acquisition of a business, and financial liabilities designated at FVtPL, are subsequently measured at fair
value.

All other financial liabilities recognised by the company are subsequently measured at amortised cost.

Impairment of financial assets

The following financial assets are tested for impairment by applying the ‘expected credit loss’ impairment
model:

(a) receivables from contracts with customers, contract assets and lease receivables.

The company applies the simplified approach under AASB 9 to measuring the allowance for credit losses for
receivables from contracts with customers, contract assets and lease receivables. Under the AASB 9
simplified approach, the company determines the allowance for credit losses for receivables from contracts
with customers, contract assets and lease receivables on the basis of the lifetime expected credit losses of
the financial asset. Lifetime expected credit losses represent the expected credit losses that are expected to
result from default events over the expected life of the financial asset.

(i) Property, plant and equipment

Each class of plant and equipment is measured at cost or fair value less, where applicable, any accumulated
depreciation and any accumulated impairment losses.

Plant and equipment

Plant and equipment is measured at cost less accumulated depreciation.

Depreciation

Land is not depreciated. The depreciable amount of all other property, plant and equipment is depreciated
over their estimated useful lives commencing from the time the asset is held available for use, consistent
with the estimated consumption of the economic benefits embodied in the asset.

Class of fixed asset Depreciation rates Depreciation basis

Leasehold improvements   10%-20% Straight line

Office equipment 10%-40% Straight line &
Diminishing Value

Furniture, fixtures and fittings   10%-33% Straight line

- 14 -
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FIRE PROTECTION ASSOCIATION AUSTRALIA
ABN: 30 005 366 576

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2020

NOTE 1: STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(j) Research and development expenditure

Expenditure on research activities is recognised as an expense when incurred.

Development costs are capitalised when the company can demonstrate all of the following: the technical
feasibility of completing the asset so that it will be available for use or sale; the intention to complete the
asset and use or sell it; the ability to use or sell the asset; how the asset will generate probable future
economic benefits; the availability of adequate technical, financial and other resources to complete the
development and to use or sell the asset; and the ability to measure reliably the expenditure attributable to
the asset during its development. Capitalised development expenditure is carried at cost less any
accumulated amortisation and any accumulated impairment losses. Capitalised development costs are
amortised using the using the straight-line method over their estimated useful lives, which range from 5 to
10 years. Amortisation commences when the intangible asset is available for use. 

Other development expenditure is recognised as an expense when incurred.

(k) Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the company has a legal or constructive obligation, as a result of past
events, for which it is probable that an outflow of economic benefits will result and that outflow can be
reliably measured.

(l) Leases

Accounting policy applied to the information presented for the current period under AASB 16 Leases:

At the commencement date of a lease (other than leases of 12-months or less and leases of low value
assets), the company recognises a lease asset representing its right to use the underlying asset and a lease
liability representing its obligation to make lease payments.

Lease assets

Lease assets are initially recognised at cost, comprising the amount of the initial measurement of the lease
liability, any lease payments made at or before the commencement date of the lease, less any lease
incentives received, any initial direct costs incurred by the company, and an estimate of costs to be
incurred by the company in dismantling and removing the underlying asset, restoring the site on which it is
located or restoring the underlying asset to the condition required by the terms and conditions of the lease,
unless those costs are incurred to produce inventories.

Subsequent to initial recognition, lease assets are measured at cost (adjusted for any remeasurement of
the associated lease liability), less accumulated depreciation and any accumulated impairment loss.

Lease assets are depreciated over the shorter of the lease term and the estimated useful life of the
underlying asset, consistent with the estimated consumption of the economic benefits embodied in the
underlying asset.
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FIRE PROTECTION ASSOCIATION AUSTRALIA
ABN: 30 005 366 576

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2020

NOTE 1: STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(l) Leases (Continued)

Lease liabilities

Lease liabilities are initially recognised at the present value of the future lease payments (i.e., the lease
payments that are unpaid at the commencement date of the lease). These lease payments are discounted
using the interest rate implicit in the lease, if that rate can be readily determined, or otherwise using the
company’s incremental borrowing rate.

Subsequent to initial recognition, lease liabilities are measured at the present value of the remaining lease
payments (i.e., the lease payments that are unpaid at the reporting date). Interest expense on lease
liabilities is recognised in profit or loss (presented as a component of finance costs). Lease liabilities are
remeasured to reflect changes to lease terms, changes to lease payments and any lease modifications not
accounted for as separate leases.

Variable lease payments not included in the measurement of lease liabilities are recognised as an expense
when incurred.

Leases of 12-months or less and leases of low value assets

Lease payments made in relation to leases of 12-months or less and leases of low value assets (for which a
lease asset and a lease liability has not been recognised) are recognised as an expense on a straight-line
basis over the lease term.

Accounting policy applied to the information presented for the prior period under AASB 117 Leases:

Leases are classified at their inception as either operating or finance leases based on the economic
substance of the agreement so as to reflect the risks and benefits incidental to ownership.

Finance leases

Leases of fixed assets, where substantially all of the risks and benefits incidental to ownership of the asset,
but not the legal ownership, are transferred to the company are classified as finance leases. Finance leases
are capitalised, recording an asset and liability equal to the fair value or, if lower, the present value of the
minimum lease payments, including any guaranteed residual values. The interest expense is calculated
using the interest rate implicit in the lease, if this is practicable to determine; if not, the company’s
incremental borrowing rate is used. Interest expense on finance leases is included in finance costs in the
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income. Lease assets are depreciated on a straight line
basis over their estimated useful lives where it is likely the company will obtain ownership of the asset, or
over the term of the lease. Lease payments are allocated between the reduction of the lease liability and
the lease interest expense for the period in accordance with the effective interest method.

Operating leases

Lease payments for operating leases are recognised as an expense on a straight-line basis over the term of
the lease. Lease incentives received under operating leases are recognised as a liability and amortised on a
straight-line basis over the life of the lease term.
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FIRE PROTECTION ASSOCIATION AUSTRALIA
ABN: 30 005 366 576

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2020

NOTE 1: STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(m) Goods and services tax (GST)

Revenues, expenses and purchased assets are recognised net of the amount of GST, except where the
amount of GST incurred is not recoverable from the Tax Office. In these circumstances the GST is
recognised as part of the cost of acquisition of the asset or as part of an item of the expense. Receivables
and payables in the statement of financial position are shown inclusive of GST.

Cash flows are presented in the statement of cash flows on a gross basis, except for the GST component of
investing and financing activities, which are disclosed as operating cash flows.

(n) Comparatives

Where necessary, comparative information has been reclassified and repositioned for consistency with
current year disclosures.

(o) New and revised accounting standards effective at 30 June 2020

The company has applied all new and revised Australian Accounting Standards that apply to annual
reporting periods beginning on or after 1 July 2019, including AASB 16 Leases (AASB 16).

AASB 16: Leases

AASB 16 replaces AASB 117 Leases and introduces a single lessee accounting model that requires a lessee
to recognise right-of-use assets and lease liabilities for all leases with a term of more than 12 months,
unless the underlying asset is of low value. Right-of-use assets are initially measured at cost and lease
liabilities are initially measured on a present value basis. Subsequent to initial recognition:

(a) right-of-use assets are accounted for on a similar basis to non-financial assets, whereby the right-of-use
asset is accounted for on a cost basis unless the underlying asset is accounted for on a revaluation basis,
in which case if the underlying asset is:

i. investment property, the lessee applies the fair value model in AASB 140 Investment Property to the
right-of-use asset; or

ii. property, plant or equipment, the applies the revaluation model in AASB 116 Property, Plant and
Equipment to all of the right-of-use assets that relate to that class of property, plant and equipment;
and

(b) lease liabilities are accounted for on a similar basis to other financial liabilities, whereby interest
expense is recognised in respect of the lease liability and the carrying amount of the lease liability is
reduced to reflect the principal portion of lease payments made.

AASB 16 substantially carries forward the lessor accounting requirements of the predecessor standard,
AASB 117. Accordingly, under AASB 16 a lessor continues to classify its leases as operating leases or finance
leases subject to whether the lease transfers to the lessee substantially all of the risks and rewards
incidental to ownership of the underlying asset, and accounts for each type of lease in a manner consistent
with the current approach under AASB 117.
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FIRE PROTECTION ASSOCIATION AUSTRALIA
ABN: 30 005 366 576

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2020

NOTE 1: STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(o) New and revised accounting standards effective at 30 June 2020 (Continued)

The company has also elected to apply the following practical expedients to the measurement of right-of-
use assets and lease liabilities in relation to those leases previously classified as operating leases under the
predecessor standard:

- to recognise each right-of-use asset at the date of initial application at an amount equal to the lease
liability, adjusted by the amount of any prepaid or accrued lease payments relating to that lease
recognised in the statement of financial position immediately before the date of initial application;

- to not recognise a right-of-use asset and a lease liability for leases for which the underlying asset is of
low value;

- to not recognise a right-of-use asset and a lease liability for leases for which the lease term ends within
12 months of the date of initial application;

- to apply a single discount rate to a portfolio of leases with reasonably similar characteristics;

- to adjust each right-of-use asset at the date of initial application by the amount of any provision for
onerous leases recognised in the statement of financial position immediately before the date of initial
application;

- to exclude initial direct costs from the measurement of each right-of-use asset at the date of initial
application; and

- to use hindsight, such as in determining the lease term if the contract contains options to extend or
terminate the lease.

The application of AASB 16 resulted in the recognition of right-of-use assets with an aggregate carrying
amount of $803,394 (referred to in these financial statements as “lease assets”) and corresponding lease
liabilities with an aggregate carrying amount of $862,834. The weighted average incremental borrowing
rate applied in the calculation of the initial carrying amount of lease liabilities was 3.50%.

The following is a reconciliation of non-cancellable operating lease commitments disclosed at the end of
the prior reporting period (i.e., at 30 June 2019) to the aggregate carrying amount of lease liabilities
recognised at the date of the initial application (i.e., at 1 July 2019):

$

Aggregate non-cancellable operating lease commitments at 30 June 2019 922,911

Less: impact of discounting lease payments to their present value at 1 July
2019 (60,077)

Carrying amount of lease liabilities recognised at 1 July 2019 862,834

Further details of the company's accounting policy in relation to accounting for leases under AASB 16 are
contained in Note 1(l) .

- 18 -



5
1

F
IN

A
N

C
IA

L
 R

E
P

O
R

T
F

P
A

 A
U

S
T

R
A

L
IA

 A
N

N
U

A
L

 R
E

P
O

R
T

 2
0

19
-2

0

FIRE PROTECTION ASSOCIATION AUSTRALIA
ABN: 30 005 366 576

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2020

2020 2019

$ $

NOTE 2: REVENUE AND OTHER INCOME

Revenue

Membership and subscriptions 1,974,634 1,849,580

Licencing and accreditation 2,446,108 1,098,861

Seminar and conferences 283,853 996,280

Education and training 1,132,449 1,302,441

Sale of goods 1,544,493 1,300,709

Interest income 30,016 38,818

Other fees 155,020 135,914

7,566,573 6,722,603

Other income

Jobkeeper revenue 150,000 -

Cashboost income 62,500 -

Payroll tax refund 696,779 -

909,279 -

8,475,852 6,722,603

NOTE 3: OPERATING PROFIT

Profit for the financial year has been determined after:

Cost of sales 4,477,918 4,340,199

Lease liabliities - finance charges 26,174 -

Depreciation and amortisation 576,798 231,190

Other employee benefits 1,265,038 1,341,163

NOTE 4: CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

Cash on hand 29 83

Cash at bank 2,678,462 1,200,497

Cash on deposit 1,712,024 1,708,390

4,390,515 2,908,970

NOTE 5: RECEIVABLES

CURRENT

Receivables from contracts with customers 997,016 129,832
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FIRE PROTECTION ASSOCIATION AUSTRALIA
ABN: 30 005 366 576

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2020

2020 2019

$ $

NOTE 6: INVENTORIES

CURRENT

At cost

Inventories 15,166 105,665

NOTE 7: OTHER ASSETS

CURRENT

Prepayments 123,952 135,277

Other 1,430 4,755

125,382 140,032

NOTE 8: INTANGIBLE ASSETS

Logbook development and accreditation costs 292,276 292,276

Accumulated amortisation and impairment (215,376) (92,656)

76,900 199,620

Training modules 359,661 275,255

Accumulated amortisation and impairment (136,439) (77,022)

223,222 198,233

Patents, trademarks and licences 5,130 6,630

Software development costs 240,565 240,565

Accumulated amortisation and impairment (200,857) (178,278)

39,708 62,287

Total intangible assets 344,960 466,770

(a) Reconciliations

Reconciliation of the carrying amounts of intangible assets at the
beginning and end of the current financial year

Logbook development and accreditation costs

Opening balance 199,620 52,993

Additions - 182,092

Amortisation expense (122,720) (35,465)

Closing balance 76,900 199,620
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FIRE PROTECTION ASSOCIATION AUSTRALIA
ABN: 30 005 366 576

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2020

2020 2019

$ $

NOTE 8: INTANGIBLE ASSETS (CONTINUED)

(a) Reconciliations (Continued)

Patents, trademarks and licences at fair value

Opening balance 6,630 6,630

Amortisation expense (1,500) -

Closing balance 5,130 6,630

Training modules

Opening balance 198,233 72,506

Additions 82,908 164,990

Amortisation expense (57,919) (39,263)

Closing balance 223,222 198,233

Software development costs

Opening balance 62,287 73,344

Additions - 22,182

Amortisation expense (22,579) (33,239)

Closing balance 39,708 62,287

Total Intangible assets reconcilation

Opening balance 466,770 205,473

Additions 82,908 369,264

Amortisation expense (204,718) (107,967)

Closing balance 344,960 466,770

NOTE 9: LEASE ASSETS AND LEASE LIABILITIES

Lease arrangements (30 June 2020)

The following information relates to the current reporting period only, and is presented in accordance with
AASB 16 Leases (which was applied by the company for the first time in the current reporting period).

(a) Lease assets

Right of use asset under lease 803,394 -

Accumulated depreciation (241,018) -

562,376 -

Total carrying amount of lease assets 562,376 -
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FIRE PROTECTION ASSOCIATION AUSTRALIA
ABN: 30 005 366 576

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2020

2020 2019

$ $

NOTE 9: LEASE ASSETS AND LEASE LIABILITIES (CONTINUED)

Reconciliations

Reconciliation of the carry amount of lease assets at the beginning and end
of the financial year:

Land and buildings

Opening carrying amount 803,394 -

Depreciation (241,018) -

Closing carrying amount 562,376 -

(b) Lease liabilities

CURRENT

Lease liability on land and buildings 264,787 -

NON CURRENT

Lease liability on land and buildings 367,757 -

Total carrying amount of lease liabilities 632,544 -

(c) Lease expenses and cashflows

Interest expense on lease liabilities 26,173 -

Depreciation expense on lease assets 241,018 -

Cash outflow in relation to leases 256,464 -

(d) Non-cancellable operating lease arrangements (30 June 2019)

The following information relates to non-cancellable operating lease arrangements of the prior reporting
period only, and is presented in accordance with the predecessor accounting standard AASB 117 Leases.

2019
$

Operating lease commitments:

- Not later than 1 year 277,253

- Later than 1 year and not later than 5 years 645,658

Aggregate lease payments contracted for at reporting date 922,911
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FIRE PROTECTION ASSOCIATION AUSTRALIA
ABN: 30 005 366 576

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2020

2020 2019

$ $

NOTE 10: PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Leasehold improvements

At cost 301,159 301,159

Accumulated depreciation (229,216) (197,625)

71,943 103,534

Plant and equipment

Office equipment at cost 140,175 165,664

Accumulated depreciation (114,932) (124,370)

25,243 41,294

Furniture, fixtures and fittings at cost 223,195 221,254

Accumulated depreciation (149,806) (125,417)

73,389 95,837

Computer equipment at cost 242,380 233,253

Accumulated depreciation (194,570) (160,163)

47,810 73,090

Total plant and equipment 146,442 210,221

Total property, plant and equipment 218,385 313,755

(a) Reconciliations

Leasehold improvements

Opening carrying amount 103,534 133,850

Depreciation expense (31,591) (30,316)

Closing carrying amount 71,943 103,534

Office equipment

Opening carrying amount 41,294 44,884

Additions 6,505 13,267

Depreciation expense (22,556) (16,857)

Closing carrying amount 25,243 41,294

Furniture, fixtures and fittings

Opening carrying amount 95,837 114,847

Additions 1,941 4,561

Depreciation expense (24,389) (23,571)

Closing carrying amount 73,389 95,837

- 23 -



5
6

FIRE PROTECTION ASSOCIATION AUSTRALIA
ABN: 30 005 366 576

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2020

2020 2019

$ $

NOTE 10: PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (CONTINUED)

(a) Reconciliations (Continued)

Computer equipment

Opening carrying amount 73,090 84,560

Additions 27,246 77,434

Disposals - (36,425)

Depreciation expense (52,526) (52,479)

Closing carrying amount 47,810 73,090

Total property, plant and equipment

Carrying amount at 1 July 313,755 378,141

Additions 35,692 95,262

Disposals - (36,425)

Depreciation expense (131,062) (123,223)

Carrying amount at 30 June 218,385 313,755

NOTE 11: PAYABLES

CURRENT

Unsecured liabilities

Trade creditors 199,171 264,428

Accrued expenses 453,281 300,199

652,452 564,627

NOTE 12: BORROWINGS

CURRENT

Unsecured liabilities

Bank overdraft 3,896 -

Credit cards 8,027 23,238

11,923 23,238
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FIRE PROTECTION ASSOCIATION AUSTRALIA
ABN: 30 005 366 576

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2020

2020 2019

$ $

NOTE 13: PROVISIONS

CURRENT

Employee benefits (a) 235,866 379,636

Other 50,000 -

285,866 379,636

NON CURRENT

Employee benefits (a) 20,088 34,659

(a) Aggregate employee benefits liability 255,954 414,295

NOTE 14: OTHER LIABILITIES

CURRENT

Revenue received in advance 2,914,268 1,961,290

Lease incentive - 82,544

Other current liabilities 100,732 86,841

3,015,000 2,130,675

NOTE 15: CASH FLOW INFORMATION

(a) Reconciliation of cash

Cash at the end of the financial year as shown in the statement of cash
flows is reconciled to the related items in the statement of financial
position is as follows:

Cash on hand 29 83

Cash at bank 2,678,462 1,200,497

At call deposits with financial institutions 1,712,024 1,708,390

4,390,515 2,908,970

(b) Reconciliation of cash flow from operations with profit after income tax

Profit / (loss) from ordinary activities after income tax 1,103,738 (130,722)

Adjustments and non-cash items

Depreciation and amortisation 576,798 231,190

Reclassification of prepaid rent to financing operations (23,104) -
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FIRE PROTECTION ASSOCIATION AUSTRALIA
ABN: 30 005 366 576

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2020

2020 2019

$ $

NOTE 15: CASH FLOW INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

(b) Reconciliation of cash flow from operations with profit after income tax (Continued)

Changes in operating assets and liabilities

Decrease in receivables (867,184) 40,143

(Increase) / decrease in other assets 14,650 (7,570)

(Increase) / decrease in inventories 90,499 (33,302)

Increase / (decrease) in payables 87,825 16,942

Increase in other liabilities 966,869 361,712

Increase / (decrease) in provisions (108,341) 40,561

Cash flows from operating activities 1,841,750 518,954

NOTE 16: EVENTS SUBSEQUENT TO REPORTING DATE

On 11th March 2020 the World Health Organisation declared an ongoing global outbreak of a novel
coronavirus, known as ‘coronavirus disease 2019’ (‘COVID-19’) as a pandemic. Since 30 June 2020, Fire
Protection Association Australia has continued to provide its services to members and the broader fire
protection industry where possible within the prevailing restrictions. 

The full impact of the pandemic on Fire Protection Association Australia will not be fully quantifiable for
some time, however, since 30 June 2020 Fire Protection Association Australia has continued to operate
largely at its normal capacity in most areas, and capacity is expected to return to normal in all areas once
restrictions are lifted.

There have been no other matters or circumstances which have arisen since 30 June 2020 that have
significantly affected or may significantly affect:

(a) the operations, in financial years subsequent to 30 June 2020, of the company, or
(b) the results of those operations, or
(c) the state of affairs, in financial years subsequent to 30 June 2020, of the company.
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FIRE PROTECTION ASSOCIATION AUSTRALIA
ABN: 30 005 366 576

DIRECTORS' DECLARATION

The directors declare that:

1. there are reasonable grounds to believe that the company is able to pay all of its debts, as and when
they become due and payable; and

2. the financial statements and notes satisfy the requirements of the Australian Charities and Not-for-
profits Commission Act 2012.

Signed in accordance with subsection 60.15(2) of the Australian Charities and Not-for-profit Commission
Regulation 2013.

Director: 

Bill Lea

Director: 

Rhondel Johannessen

Date: 12 November 2020
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FIRE PROTECTION ASSOCIATION AUSTRALIA
ABN: 30 005 366 576

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT
TO THE MEMBERS OF FIRE PROTECTION ASSOCIATION AUSTRALIA

Report on the Audit of the Financial Report

Opinion

We have audited the financial report, being a special purpose financial report of Fire Protection Association
Australia, "the Company", which comprises the statement of financial position as at 30 June 2020, the
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, statement of changes in members' funds and
statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the financial statements, including a
summary of significant accounting policies, and the directors' declaration.

In our opinion, the accompanying financial report of Fire Protection Association Australia, is in accordance
with Division 60 of the Australian Charities and Not-for-profits Commission Act 2012, including:

(a) giving a true and fair view of the Company’s financial position as at 30 June 2020 and of its financial
performance for the year then ended; and

(b) complying with Australian Accounting Standards and Division 60 of the Australian Charities and Not-
for-profits Commission Regulation 2013.

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards. Our responsibilities under those
standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Report section
of our report. We are independent of the Company in accordance with the Australian Charities and Not-for-
profits Commission Act 2012 "ACNC Act" and the ethical requirements of the Accounting Professional and
Ethical Standards Board’s APES 110 Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (including Independence
Standards) "the Code" that are relevant to our audit of the financial report in Australia. We have also
fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe that the audit evidence
we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Emphasis of Matter - Basis of Accounting

We draw attention to Note 1 to the financial report, which describes the basis of accounting. The financial
report has been prepared to assist Fire Protection Association Australia to meet the requirements of the
ACNC Act. As a result, the financial report may not be suitable for another purpose. Our opinion is not
modified in respect of this matter.
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FIRE PROTECTION ASSOCIATION AUSTRALIA
ABN: 30 005 366 576

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT
TO THE MEMBERS OF FIRE PROTECTION ASSOCIATION AUSTRALIA

Other Information - The annual report is not complete at the date of the audit report

The directors are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the directors
report which was obtained as at the date of our audit report, and any additional other information included
in the Company's annual report for the year ended 30 June 2020, but does not include the financial report
and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the financial report does not cover the other information and accordingly we do not express
any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the financial report, our responsibility is to read the other information and,
in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial report or
our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other
information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

When we read the other information not yet received as identified above, if we conclude that there is a
material misstatement therein, we are required to communicate the matter to the directors and use our
professional judgement to determine the appropriate action to take. 

Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance for the Financial Report

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial report in accordance
with the financial reporting requirements of the ACNC Act and for such internal control as management
determines is necessary to enable the preparation and fair presentation of a financial report that is free
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial report, management is responsible for assessing the Company’s ability to
continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters relating to going concern and using the going
concern basis of accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the Company or to cease
operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Company’s financial reporting process.
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FIRE PROTECTION ASSOCIATION AUSTRALIA
ABN: 30 005 366 576

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT
TO THE MEMBERS OF FIRE PROTECTION ASSOCIATION AUSTRALIA

Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Report

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial report as a whole is free
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes
our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit
conducted in accordance with the Australian Auditing Standards will always detect a material misstatement
when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in
the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on
the basis of this financial report.

As part of an audit in accordance with the Australian Auditing Standards, we exercise professional
judgement and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. We also:

 Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial report, whether due to fraud

or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence

that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a

material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may

involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal

control.

 Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit

procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an

opinion on the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control.

 Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting

estimates and related disclosures made by the directors.

 Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going concern basis of accounting and,

based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or

conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern.

If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s

report to the related disclosures in the financial report or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to

modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our

auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Company to cease to continue

as a going concern.
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FIRE PROTECTION ASSOCIATION AUSTRALIA
ABN: 30 005 366 576

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT
TO THE MEMBERS OF FIRE PROTECTION ASSOCIATION AUSTRALIA

Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Report (Continued)

 Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial report, including the

disclosures, and whether the financial report represents the underlying transactions and events in a

manner that achieves fair presentation.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope
and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control
that we identify during our audit.

D A KNOWLES PITCHER PARTNERS

Partner Melbourne

Date: 12 November 2020
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EXECUTIVE TEAM, AS AT 30 JUNE 2020

Mr Nathan Semos Chief Operating Officer

Mr Paul Waterhouse State Manager – NSW

Mr Chris Wyborn General Manager, Training, Accreditation, and Bushfire Services

Mr Andrew Kendt Manager, Finance and Corporate

Mr Paul Hodgson Executive Officer, Fire Protection Industry Board

STATE & TERRITORY MEMBERSHIP GROUPS – JULY 2019 - JUNE 2020

State Chairman Deputy Chairman

New South Wales Mr George Reboredo Mr Steve Sonter

Victoria Mr Roy Marshall Ms Elvira Nigido

South Australia Mr Jason Lohf Mr Alan Short

Western Australia Mr Neil Hawkins (to July 2019) Mr Anthony Rowe (to July 2019) 
 Mr Anthony Rowe (from July 2019) Currently vacant

Tasmania Mr Paul Gleeson Mr Ross Murphy

Northern Territory Mr Vern Hutchinson Mr James Smith

TECHNICAL ADVISORY COMMITTEES – JULY 2019 - JUNE 2020

Committee Chairman

TAC/1 Maintenance of Fire Protection Systems  
and Equipment

Mr Graham Green (to January, 2020) 
Mr John Lynch (from January, 2020)

TAC/2 Fire Detection and Alarm Systems Mr Carmelo Scaffidi

TAC/3/7 Portable and Mobile Equipment Mr Ray Mergard

TAC/4/8/9 Fire Sprinklers and Hydrant Systems,  
Tanks, and Fixed Fire Pumps

Mr Paul Gatt

TAC11/22 Special Hazard Fire Protection Systems Mr Brett Staines

TAC/17 Emergency Planning Ms Rhondel Johannessen

TAC/18/19 Fire Safety Mr Keith Nicholls

TAC/20 Bushfire Safety Mr Grahame Douglas
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FPA AUSTRALIA EMAIL ADDRESSES

General enquiries fpaa@fpaa.com.au

Leadership ceo@fpaa.com.au

Engagement engagement@fpaa.com.au

New Membership Enquiries join@fpaa.com.au

Existing Member Enquiries member@fpaa.com.au

Sales Centre shop@fpaa.com.au

Advocacy/Technical technical@fpaa.com.au

Events events@fpaa.com.au

Fire Protection Accreditation Scheme (FPAS) fpas@fpaa.com.au

Cabling cpr@fpaa.com.au

Bushfire Planning & Design (BPAD) Accreditation Scheme  bpad@fpaa.com.au

ODS and SGG Board ozone@fpib.com.au

Industry Training and Assessment training@fpaa.com.au

Media Enquiries media@fpaa.com.au

Magazine magazine@fpaa.com.au

Accounts accounts@fpaa.com.au

NATIONAL OFFICE INFORMATION

Address 
PO Box 1049 Box Hill VIC 3128 
Building 2, 31-47 Joseph Street, Blackburn North, VIC 3130 

T 03 8892 3131

F 03 8892 3132 

W www.fpaa.com.au

ABN  30 005 366 576

ACN  005 366 576





Building 2, 31-47 Joseph Street 
Blackburn North 3130

PO Box 1049, Box Hill Vic 3128

03 8892 3131 
fpaa@fpaa.com.au

 FPAAus      fpaaustralia
FPAA.COM.AU


